1959

Thomas P. Sprunt v. The Denver and Rio Grande Western Railroad Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

RE: SPRUNT vs. D & R G

Plaintiff was injured in an accident which occurred during plaintiff's regular course of employment as a switchman for the defendant. The accident occurred on tracks leading into and on property allegedly owned by the Vitro Chemical Company in Salt Lake County, Utah. The evidence showed that for a substantial period of time the roadbed upon which plaintiff and the switch crews of the defendant were required to walk was full of holes averaging from a few inches to 8 and 10 inches and occasionally 12 inches deep. That these holes were caused by reason of the fact that the Vitro Chemical

Company used a clam shell and a bulldozer to maintain the levelness of the roadbed and also to remove chemical ore from the site of the roadbed. That the defendant railroad made no effort to maintain or inspect these premises upon which it sent its employees to perform work.

The evidence showed that the unsafe condition had existed for a substantial period of time, that the Union had protested in September 1956, some four months before the accident to plaintiff, and again in December 1956, approximately 3 weeks before the accident; that each time promises to correct these conditions were made by officials of the defendant railroad but that no effort was made by the railroad to maintain the roadbed in a level condition and no actions were taken by the railroad to make good its promises. The evidence further showed that the plaintiff had knowledge of this irregular condition and that he had known of its defective condition for many months prior to that day of his injury.

On the day that the plaintiff was injured the roadbed was covered with snow and the holes and depressions and irregularities in the roadbed were covered so that they were not visible, although plaintiff had walked along the roadbed and knew that holes were still there. While in the process of mounting a car which was a necessary act and which he performed in the usual customary fashion, one of plaintiff's feet slipped into a hole some 6 or 8 inches deep, he fell and suffered an injury resulting in a 50% loss of the use of his left arm at the shoulder, which damage and injury was the subject of the action.

The undisputed testimony of the plaintiff was that he did not know of the existence of the hole in which he stepped prior to his fall and that the same was not visible to him by reason of the fact that it was filled with snow. No evidence was introduced to show that plaintiff should have known of the hole unless it could be inferred from his prior knowledge of the generally defective condition of the area generally.

The jury found for the plaintiff but found that he was guilty of contributory negligence and that he was 66-2/3% responsible for his injuries.

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN SUBMITTING THE QUESTION OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE TO THE JURY.

POINT II

THE AMOUNT OF DAMAGES IS INADEQUATE IN LAW.

Do the facts involved herein constitute contributory negligence? It is necessary for some basic understanding of the facts upon which contributory negligence can be predicated.

The court by instruction 12 stated:

“You are instructed that you cannot infer or find liability on the part of the railroad company from the mere fact that an injury took place. Accidents do happen without negligence or liability on the part of either party to a suit. Therefore, if you believe from the evidence in this case that the occurrence, resulting in injuries to plaintiff, was caused without negligence or fault on the part of defendant, then your verdict must be in favor of defendant, and against the plaintiff ‘no cause of action’.”

As the instruction indicates, the fact that an accident took place does not in and of itself prove either negligence or contributory negligence. It is not a one-way street, although the defendant would have one take that position. In other words, the carrier contends that the mere fact that an injury occurred does not prove or tend to prove or create any inference that the Company was negligent. On the other hand, the carrier contends that it is permitted to argue the fact of contributory negligence from the mere fact that plaintiff sustained an injury.

This obviously is incorrect. The Court in *Williams v. Ogden Ry. & Depot Co.*, Utah 1951, 230 P2 316, quotes with approval an instruction of the trial court in part as follows at page 323:

“* * *To establish the defense of contributory negligence the burden is upon the defendant to prove, by a preponderance of evidence, that the plaintiff was negligent and that such negligence contributed in some degree as a proximate cause of the injury.”

By a preponderance of the evidence means a substantial evidence. A jury may not conjecture or speculate but must have substantial evidence upon which to base a verdict. (*Anderson v. Nixon*, Utah, 1943, 139 P2d 216)

The above view was reaffirmed in *Alvarado v. Tucker*, Utah, 1954, 268 P2d 986, wherein Justice Crockett speaking for the Court relative to the problem of burden of proof states at page 988:

“(3,6) The burden was upon plaintiff to

prove the charge of speeding; such a finding of fact could not be based on mere speculation or conjecture, but only on a preponderance of the evidence. This means the greater weight of the evidence, or as sometimes stated, such degree of proof that the greater probability of truth lies therein. A choice of probabilities does not meet this requirement. It creates only a basis for conjecture, on which a verdict of the jury cannot stand."

It has been established without any question that the mere fact that plaintiff fell does not establish contributory negligence on the part of the plaintiff. It was established without debate that plaintiff did not know of the existence of the hole in which he stepped and fell prior to stepping into it. This, of course, relates only to the problem of actual knowledge. Did he have constructive knowledge of the existence of this hole? This requires a review of the evidence. The evidence relating to this is proof and is as set forth below.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN SUBMITTING THE QUESTION OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE TO THE JURY.

The testimony for the plaintiff indicated that the area in which the plaintiff was compelled to work was in deplorable condition, exceptionally rough, full of holes, gouge marks and other rough areas and constituted a hazaradous condition. This condition had existed for some months prior to this injury (Tr. 105). On September 26, officials of the Switchman's Union took the de-

fendant's Safety Engineer to the property to show him and at that time the area was impassable by foot (Tr. 105, 106, 112, 114).

Conversations were had between Mr. Smith and Mr. Griffith, Assistant Superintendent, as late as the 27th day of December, relative to correcting this difficulty, however, nothing was done. Promises were made relative to correcting these difficulties which were never complied with. The only testimony as to the manner in which the plaintiff was injured and his knowledge of these conditions come from the witness, Mr. Patterson, and plaintiff himself, and is as follows:

MR. PATTERSON: (Page 15, 16, lines 28 to 30, line 1)

Q. Now, Mr. Patterson, what, if anything, did the Vitro Uranium maintain between this new spur switch and the hopper spur switch at this time?

A. Under the condition they didn't maintain any of them.

(Page 20, line 6-8)

Q. (By Mr. Patterson) Mr. Patterson, what was the weather that day?

A. Well, there was snow on the ground, as I recall, it was snowing just a little bit at the time.

(By Mr. Patterson, page 22, lines 1 to 22)

Q. Now, you had had occasion to walk in that area earlier also that day, hadn't you?

A. Yes sir, when I coupled the air hoses on the cars.

Q. Tell the jury if you will the condition of that road bed in that area?

A. Well, it was very rough—holes, mounds, there was enough snow on the ground that made it hard to detect the holes filled with snow and it was generally in a very poor condition.

Q. Now, how long had it been in that condition to your knowledge?

A. It had been in that condition for a long time, we had complained to the company.

MR. ASHTON: Just a minute, may we have stricken the last part, it is not responsive. We would like to have the foundation laid so we can meet that particular testimony.

THE COURT: It may be stricken.

Q. (By Mr. Patterson) You say for a long time, can you tell me in terms of months how long?

A. I know it was five or six months because we had the safety man on the Rio Grande system come to the Vitro and inspect it under our complaints.

MR. SPRUNT: (Page 42, lines 2 to 30; page 43, lines 1 to 7)

Q. (By Mr. Patterson) You say you were starting to mount the cars?

A. Yes.

Q. Why would you do that?

A. When you are shoving through that place where the hopper is, there is a shed there, when you get inside that shed the engineer can't see inside the shed, I was going to ride the cars up so when Mr. Patterson got on through I could stop the head car at the hopper.

Q. You could walk two miles an hours?

A. Yes, as a general rule we always climb it because the engineer couldn't see me where

I was at and I could pass signals to Mr. Patterson.

Q. In other words, it was necessary for you to climb on the car?

A. Yes sir.

MR. ASHTON: I object, the court please, it is calling for a conclusion.

THE COURT: The objection is overruled, the answer may stand.

Q. (By Mr. Patterson) Now, what happened when you—describe how you started to mount the car, what you did?

A. Well, as a general rule when you are switching on a lead, or anything, we most generally hit the stirrup with our right foot and most generally reach up with the one hand, get hold of the grab iron and follow up with the other, when I went to follow up I slipped in the meantime, and I couldn't get the grab iron.

Q. Why did you slip?

A. I stepped in a hole.

Q. Will you describe that hole to the jury, please?

A. Well, as far as I remember, it was a hole along side the cars where we walked, made by the clam shovel cleaning up the ore.

Q. Describe the hole itself as much as you can?

A. I would say the hole was around between eight and twelve inches deep.

(Page 49, lines 9 to 26)

Q. (By Mr. Patterson) Will you describe the condition of the roadbed in the area between this new spur switch and the hopper spur switch, particularly at the time that you sustained your injury?

A. Well, I will say it was awfully rough, it was full of holes from where the clam shell had picked up the ore they had dumped from the cars, they couldn't get all the ore out of there.

Q. How long had this condition existed prior to this to your knowledge?

A. I would say around six months at least.

Q. Now, what was the weather that day?

A. It had been snowing—it was snowing.

Q. And could you see these holes?

A. No sir.

Q. Why?

A. Because it had snowed all night and a lot of the holes was filled with snow.

(Cross Examination by Mr. Ashton, page 57, lines 24 to 30; page 58, lines 1 to 14)

Q. You have, of course, a large area you can choose to board this car?

A. That is right.

Q. You didn't have to get on, did you, at this particular point?

A. No, I didn't have to.

Q. These cars are moving two to three miles an hour and you could have, if you elected to, to walk along there?

A. I don't know I could have walked that fast there the way the roadbed was.

Q. You elected to get on the car at this particular point?

A. Yes sir.

Q. You chose at this particular point to get on the car?

A. That is right.

Q. This was broad daylight?

A. Yes sir.

Q. You were aware of the fact where cars were unloaded and the clam shell worked and would make gouges, and were aware of the fact snow had fallen and concealed rough spots under the snow, you were aware of that?

A. Yes.

(Page 59, lines 5 to 30; page 60, lines 1 to 3)

Q. Mr. Sprunt, I am not trying to get you, in detailing the matter to relate what each muscle did in this particular time. When you reached up, what was the usual way to do it, put the weight on one hand?

A. Most generally put the weight on both hands.

Q. You reached with the left hand, and hadn't got your weight up?

A. No sir.

Q. You were walking when this occurred?

A. No.

Q. You were standing still?

A. Yes.

Q. So you were standing still when the car came past going about two or three miles an hour, and you reached up with your left hand?

A. Yes sir, that is right.

Q. Were you standing in a hole?

A. No I wasn't.

Q. Did you move your feet before you got aboard?

A. That is something I can't say.

Q. As you reached with your left hand, as you started to board, your foot went in a hole?

A. No, generally when you are boarding a car you swing yourself on, when I went to swing

on I slipped.

Q. When you swung to go on to board you stepped, do you know which foot?

A. No sir.

Q. You slipped with your foot in a hole?

A. Yes sir.

(Page 92, lines 26-30; page 93, lines 1-3)

Q. (By Mr. Patterson) Was there any difference in the condition of the roadbed after the visit you have mentioned?

A. No sir.

Q. Did they cease to have these holes in the roadbed?

A. What is that?

Q. Did they cease to have holes in the roadbed after these officials had been there?

A. No.

Mr. Hayden and Mr. Smith testified as follows as to visits to the premises with officials of the defendant and conversations relative thereto:

MR. HAYDEN: (Page 104, lines 14-30, page 105, lines 1-24)

Q. (By Mr. Patterson) Did you have occasion during that period of time to contact an official of the Denver and Rio Grande Railroad relative to the premises?

A. Yes.

MR. ASHTON: Excuse me, Mr. Patterson, let me have that time.

MR. PATTERSON: In September.

MR. ASHTON: In September of—

MR. PATTERSON: 1956.

Q. (By Mr. Patterson) When was that?

- A. That was, I believe on the 27th.
- Q. Of what?
- A. Of September in '56.
- Q. Now, whom did you contact?
- A. Mr. Pete Ackermann.
- Q. Who is he?
- A. He was the assistant superintendent of safety.
- Q. For whom?
- A. By the Denver and Rio Grande.
- Q. And why did you contact him?
- A. Because I was a member of the safety committee and we knew that a hazardous condition existed at Vitro Chemical Company.
- Q. A hazardous condition relative to what?
- A. Relative to footing along the trackage.
- Q. And what did you and Mr. Ackermann do?
- A. Well, we were on a tour of the Roper yards and we proceeded to Vitro Chemical, that we found the conditions so bad there that we—

MR. ASHTON: May we have the witness testify what he saw rather than characterize it.

THE COURT: It is not proper to draw your own opinions, that is the duty of the jury. Tell what you saw.

- A. We saw holes along the trackage, which were water and mud, and we proceeded to a point which was impossible on foot.
- Q. And then what did you do?
- A. We turned around and came back off the property.
- Q. And what, if anything, did Mr. Ackermann say about this situation at that time, or subsequent to that time?
- A. Mr. Ackermann said that he would have the

condition taken care of.

MR. SMITH: (Page 113, lines 9 to 15)

Q. (By Mr. Patterson) Did you and Mr. Ackermann and Mr. Hayden go out to that property?

A Yes sir.

Q. What did you discover when you went out there?

A. Well, the conditions were such we went up as far as we could go in our oxfords and had to truck from that point and he told us the conditions would be corrected.

From the above, it will be seen that the only basis upon which actual or constructive knowledge of the existence of the hole could be imputed to the plaintiff would be on the basis he knew for a period of six months that the area upon which he was compelled to work was dangerous, defective and unsafe. Is this sufficient?

The question answers itself in that this does not constitute negligence but on the contrary is a form of assumption of risk which had been outlawed by the 1939 amendment to the Federal Employers' Liability Act, 45 U.S.C.A. Sec. 54.

This problem as to what constitutes assumption of risk, which is outlawed by statute, and what constitutes contributory negligence on the part of an employee is a difficult close question. However, an examination of the law prior to 1939 and the law subsequent to 1939 discloses a very interesting fact, namely, that the facts in issue have always been held to be facts constituting the

defense of assumption of risk.

Thus, in *Kansas City Railroad Co. v. Roe*, Okla. 1919, 180 P. 371, the Court held that a switchman having knowledge of the rough and uneven condition of a track assumed the risk of the derailment which was caused by the defective condition of the roadbed.

In *Edwards v. Southern Railroad Co.*, Ga., 184 S.E. 370, the Court held as a matter of law that an experienced switchman assumed the risk of injury from soft uneven dirt and gravel alongside the track, that he also assumed the risk of broken, rotten and uneven cross ties as well as the absence of ballast between the cross ties at a place where a switchman attempted to mount an engine.

It will be observed that the facts in this case are almost precisely the facts involved in the case at bar.

In *Lehi Valley Railroad Co. v. Hatmaker*, Pa., 69 F.2d 282, a railroad switchman who slipped and fell injuring his knee while closing a switch was held not to be entitled to recovery because he assumed the risk of injury from frost, grease and dirt on the ties by reason of the fact that he had knowledge thereof, and in addition had knowledge of the defective condition of the ground below the ties.

Finally, the Supreme Court of the United States upheld this conclusion in *Delaware L. & W. RR v. Koske*, 49 S. C. 202, 279 U. S. 7. There, a switchman who had worked for years in a yard stepped into an open ditch and fell while in the process of jumping from a locomotive.

tive. The Supreme Court held that he had assumed the risk of this condition and could not recover.

In all of these cases the question was not the question of the negligence of the employee which would only mitigate damages, but that of an absolute defense to any damages on the basis of assumption of risk, and uniformly under the facts at bar, as the preceding cases set forth, the defense was found to be good as a matter of law.

In the year 1939 the Congress of the United States enacted provision of the Court now known as Title 45 U.S.C.A. Section 54, which legislatively abolished the doctrine of assumption of risk. In this case we now have the carrier attempting to use the same facts which formerly constituted the defense of assumption of risk but which they now call contributory negligence. The question is, can that be done?

It is submitted that the Supreme Court of the United States in *Tiller v. Atlantic Coast Line Railroad Co.*, 318 U. S. 54, 87 L.Ed. 610, has answered this contention once and for all. In the Tiller case the plaintiff's husband was a policeman for the railroad who had the duty of inspecting seals on cars while they were in the yard. While so engaged in his employment the decedent was struck and killed by an unlighted switch engine. Tiller was using a flashlight to assist him in inspecting the seals on the train which was moving slowly along one track when he was suddenly hit and killed by the rear car of another train which was moving in the opposite direction. The railroad claimed that the plaintiff should not be

permitted to recover because of his knowledge of conditions.

~~over~~ The Supreme Court of the United States, speaking through Mr. Justice Black, stated:

“We hold that every vestige of the doctrine of assumption of risk was obliterated from the law by the 1939 amendment, and that Congress, by abolishing the defense of assumption of risk in that statute, did not mean to leave open the identical defense for the master by changing its name to ‘non-negligence.’ As this Court said in facing the hazy margin between negligence and assumption of risk as involved in the Safety Appliance Act of (March 2) 1893, 45 USCA §1, ‘Unless great care be taken, the servant’s right will be sacrificed by simply charging him with a assumption of the risk under another name’; and no such result can be permitted here.”

Mr. Justice Frankfurter in the concurring opinion pointed out the problem, which is precisely the problem which we have at bar, stating at page 620:

“The point is illustrated by two opinions of Mr. Justice Holmes. In *Schlemmer v. Buffalo, R. & P. R. Co.* 205 US 1, 12, 13, 51 L ed 681, 686, 27 S Ct 407, he called attention to the danger of relieving from liability for negligence by talking about ‘assumption of risk’—a danger resulting from the ambiguity of the phrase. ‘Assumption of risk’ by an employee may be a way of expressing the conclusion that he has been guilty of contributory negligence. But an employee cannot be charged with contributory negligence simply because he ‘assumed the risk’; the inquiry is, did his conduct depart from that of a reasonably prudent em-

ployee in his situation? As Mr. Justice Holmes admonished us in the Schlemmer Case, 'unless great care be taken, the servant's rights will be sacrificed by simply charging him with assumption of the risk under another name.' "

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