1959

Thomas P. Sprunt v. The Denver and Rio Grande Western Railroad Co. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN SUBMITTING
THE QUESTION OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE TO THE JURY.

The plaintiff bases his argument that the court erred in submitting the issue of contributory negligence to the jury on two points:

(1) That defendant relied on the principle of assumption of risk rather than contributory negligence; and

(2) That the only contributory negligence claimed by the defendant is that plaintiff elected to board the car in a dangerous place when he could have boarded in a safe place.

With regard to plaintiff's first point defendant denies that its case is in any way founded or dependent upon the doctrine of assumption of risk. Defendant agrees with plaintiff that "Every vestige of the doctrine of assumption of risk was obliterated from the law by the 1939 amendment" to the Federal Employers Liability Act, (*Tiller vs. Atlantic Coast Line Railroad Company*, 318 U.S. 54, 87 Lawyers Ed. 610). As admitted by plaintiff in his brief (P. 23) the court "Instructed the jury that assumption of

risk was not a defense and that the burden of proving contributory negligence was on the defendant."

Consequently, defendant submits that none of plaintiff's cases with regard to assumption of risk are in point. Defendant relies, as will be demonstrated hereafter, on specific acts of negligence on the part of plaintiff to sustain its position that the plaintiff was contributorily negligent and that the court was bound to submit the issue of contributory negligence to the jury.

With regard to plaintiff's second claim, the defendant does not rely alone on plaintiff's selection of a place to board the car as his only act of contributory negligence. That was only one of several acts on his part which could be construed by reasonable men acting on a jury as constituting negligence. Following are the acts appearing in the record which reasonable jurors could conclude to be negligent:

1. Jurors might reasonably have believed that the plaintiff could and in the exercise of reasonable care should have selected a safer place to board the car because:

(a) Plaintiff knew there were gouge marks left by the clam shell which could constitute a hazard unless he watched his footing carefully;

(b) There is evidence there was only a "light skiff of snow" on the ground (R. 31);

(c) Plaintiff claimed the gouge mark involved was eight to twelve inches deep (R. 43);

(d) The gouge marks were three to five feet apart (R. 23).

Members of the jury could reasonably have concluded that a hole eight to twelve inches deep could and should have been seen by the plaintiff if there was only a light skiff of snow on it; indeed, they could ask, how did the plaintiff know it was eight to twelve inches deep if it was not capable of being observed; and inasmuch as there were areas three to five feet wide without holes or gouge marks, he had plenty of opportunity to stand in areas of safety to board the car and did not have to stand on the edge of a hole.

2. The plaintiff admitted in his testimony that it was customary to take hold of a grab iron with both hands and distribute the task of pulling oneself up onto the car between both hands. On page 58 of the Record, plaintiff was asked by counsel "When you reached up, what was the usual way to do it, put the weight on one hand?" and the plaintiff answered "Most generally put the weight on both hands." Members of the jury may reasonably have concluded that the plaintiff was negligent in this instance in grabbing with one hand and imposing all of the initial strain on that one arm, his left, rather than using both arms, especially when the plaintiff was conscious of the fact that his left shoulder was weak from previous dislocations.

3. The jury may have disbelieved the plaintiff when he stated that "I stepped into a hole" because they may have realized the obvious fact that with one foot elevated in the stirrup of the car, it would be impossible for plaintiff to take a step with the other foot and therefore he must either have (a) missed his hand hold; or (b) slipped on the skiff of snow and fell because he negligently failed to acquire a firm grip on the grab iron—a grip sufficient

to stand the strain of pulling him up off the ground and onto the car.

4. The members of the jury may reasonably have believed that the plaintiff carelessly got a foot in the stirrup before he took a firm grip—or any grip at all with his hand—and as a result lost his balance and slipped and fell.

5. The jury may reasonably have concluded it was negligent for plaintiff to attempt to board the car from an area of rough footing when he could have walked alongside the car and performed his duties. Mr. Sprunt claimed that he had to board the car so that he could give signals to the engineer. However, the jury may not have believed that in light of the fact that Mr. Patterson, the other switchman, testified that he, Patterson, was riding the head end car of the seven or eight car cut (R. 20), that is, the car farthest from the engine (the cars were being backed toward the hopper) and he, Patterson, gave the signal to the engineer to make the backward movement and to stop the movement when he saw the plaintiff lying on the ground. Therefore, according to Patterson's testimony he, Patterson, was where the engineer could see him and he being on the lead car would be the man to give the signal when to stop the cut in the vicinity of the hopper. In other words, in spite of the plaintiff's statement, it does not appear from the Record that the plaintiff would have been the man to give the signal, for he would have been riding on the east side of a car about halfway between the end of the cut and the engine. He would have been in no position to know when the stop signal should be given to the engineer to stop the cut when the cars were properly lined up for the hopper (R. 20).

6. The plaintiff states in one place in the record that he was standing still when he attempted to board the car. In another place he says he stepped in a hole. With this conflict in his account of the incident, members of the jury could reasonably have concluded that he was walking immediately before he attempted to board or that at least he took one step before or as he attempted to board and that he simply didn't observe with due care where he was stepping and that the careless step resulted in the slip and the fall.

7. Members of the jury might have reasonably concluded that the alleged hole had nothing to do with the fall; that the plaintiff didn't slip or step into a hole, because on page 59 of the record, plaintiff testified as follows:

"Q. As you reached with your left hand, as you started to board, your foot went in a hole?

"A. No, generally when you are boarding a car you swing yourself on, when I went to swing on I slipped."

Earlier on page 43 of the record, the plaintiff said:

". . . it was done so quick I don't know how I fell."

Consequently members of the jury could reasonably have concluded that the cause of this accident was that the plaintiff did not step with due care on the slippery snow on the ground and because of his lack of care simply slipped on the snow and the hole had nothing to do with it.

The seven items above are all examples of conduct on the part of the plaintiff documented in the record which the Jury could reasonably consider negligence. None of them have anything to do with assumption of risk. None

of them are dependent on or related to the assumption of risk doctrine.

In light of the above decisions that might have been made by reasonable men acting on a jury, let us take a look at the law applicable.

Defendant will borrow from one of the cases cited by the plaintiff in his brief to restate a well established principle of law. The case is *Anderson vs. Nixon*, 139 P.2 216, a Utah case decided in 1943.

“For the purpose of determining whether the evidence was sufficient to sustain plaintiff’s contentions, the jury having found in his favor, this court will consider as true where there is any conflict in the evidence that which is most favorable to plaintiff’s position.”

What is good for the goose is good for the gander in determining whether or not an issue of negligence or contributory negligence should be submitted to the jury. The above language from the *Anderson* case can be accurately paraphrased to apply in this case where the defendant is contending that the issue of plaintiff’s contributory negligence was properly submitted to the jury.

“For the purpose of determining whether the evidence is sufficient to sustain defendant’s contention that plaintiff was contributorily negligent, the jury having found in defendant’s favor, this court should consider as true, where there is any conflict in the evidence, that which is most favorable to the defendant’s position.”

In the case of *Stickle vs. Union Pacific Railroad Company* 251 P. 2 867 (1952 *Utah*), Justice Crockett suc-

cinctly stated the position which the defendant takes in the case at bar.

"It should be kept in mind that so far as the quantum of proof necessary to take the question of contributory negligence from the jury is concerned, the tests are the same as with respect to primary negligence."

Later the court said:

"In our democratic system, the people are the repository of power whence the law is derived; from its initiation and creation to its final application and enforcement, the law is the expression of their will. The functioning of a cross-section of the citizenry as a jury is the method by which the people express this will in the application of law to controversies which arise under it. Both our constitutional and statutory provisions assure trial by jury to citizens of this state.

"Courts, as final arbiters of law, could arrogate to themselves arbitrary and dangerous powers by presuming to determine questions of fact which litigants have a right to have passed upon by juries. Part of the merit of the jury system is its safeguarding against such arbitrary power in the courts. To the great credit of the courts of this country, they have been extremely reluctant to infringe upon this right, and by leaving it unimpaired have kept the administration of justice close to the people."

Justice Crockett went on later to say in the same opinion:

"A very fine statement of the proper attitude toward this right was expressed for this court by the late Mr. Justice Frick in *Newton vs. Oregon*

Short Line R. Co. where, in referring to the question of submitting plaintiff's contributory negligence to a jury, he made these statements:

'The court can pass upon the question of negligence only in clear cases.

' . . . unless the question of negligence is free from doubt, the court cannot pass upon it as a question of law; . . . if . . . the court is in doubt whether reasonable men, . . . might arrive at different conclusions, then this very doubt determines the question to be one of fact for the jury and not one of law for the court.' "

In the case of *Rogalski vs. Phillips Petroleum Company*, 282 P. 2 304 (1955 Utah) which was a master and servant case, Justice McDonough speaking for the court said in the opinion:

"It has been frequently announced by this court that contributory negligence is a question for the jury unless all reasonable men must draw the same conclusion from the facts as they are shown. *Shafer v. Keeley Ice Cream Co.*, 65 Utah 46, 234 P. 300, 38 A.L.R. 1523; *Lowe v. Salt Lake City*, 13 Utah 91, 44 P. 1050, 57 Am. St. Rep. 708; *Baker v. Decker*, 117 Utah 15, 212 P. 2d 679. As was said in *Linden v. Anchor Min. Co.*, 20 Utah 134, 58 P. 355, 358:

'Where there is uncertainty as to the existence of either negligence or contributory negligence, the question is not one of law, but of fact, and to be settled by a jury; and this, whether the uncertainty arises from a conflict in the testimony, or because, the facts being undisputed, fair-minded men will honestly draw different conclusions from them.' "

In the case which plaintiff relies on most in his brief, that of *Tiller v. Atlantic Coast Line Railroad Company*, 318 U.S. 54 (1943) the court clearly supports defendant's contention in this case that the issue of contributory negligence should be submitted to the jury whenever there are any disputed questions of fact. Inasmuch as this is admittedly such an important case, a statement of the facts would not be inappropriate. In the court's words, the facts were as follows:

" . . . Tiller (the plaintiff) was standing between two tracks in the respondent's switch yards, tracks which allowed him three feet, seven and one-half inches of standing space when trains were moving on both sides. The night was dark and the yard was unlighted. Tiller, using a flashlight for the purpose, was inspecting the seals of the train moving slowly on one track when suddenly he was hit and killed by the rear car of a train backing in the opposite direction on the other track. The rear of the train which killed Tiller was unlighted although a brakeman with a lantern was riding the back step on the side away from Tiller. The bell was ringing on the engine but both trains were moving. The Circuit Court found that it was 'probable that Tiller did not hear cars approaching' from behind him. No special signal of warning was given."

After eloquently disposing of the defense of assumption of risk, the court (Justice Black) said:

"No case is to be withheld from a jury on any theory of assumption of risk and questions of negligence should under proper charge from the court be submitted to the jury for their determination. Many years ago this court said of the problems of

negligence, 'we see no reason, so long as the jury system is the law of the land, and the jury is made the tribunal to decide disputed questions of fact, why it shouldn't decide such questions as these as well as others.' *Jones v. Tennessee, V & GR Company*, 128 U.S. 443, 445, 32 Lawyers Edition 478, 479. Or as we have put it on another occasion, 'where the facts are in dispute, and the evidence in relation to them is that from which fair-minded men may draw different inferences,' the case should go to the jury.

"We think that the question of negligence on the part of the railroad *and on the part of the employee* should have been submitted to the jury."

In the Utah case of *Cooper v. Evans*, 262 P. 2d 278 (Utah 1953), the principle of law is put in sharp focus by the fact that in that case the plaintiff claimed, as in this one, that she should have been determined by the court to be free of contributory negligence as a matter of law. This case is particularly helpful because some of the facts of it are strikingly analagous to some of the facts involved in the case at bar.

In the Cooper case the plaintiff received injuries in a fall over a portion of a merchandise platform owned by the defendants which juttet out into a walk-way in the defendants' store. The Trial court entered judgment for the defendants and the plaintiff appealed. In the trial court the judge had submitted an interrogatory for the jury to answer, asking whether plaintiff's failure to *observe and see* the platform amounted to contributory negligence. The jury answered the question in the affirmative and based on the jury's finding of contributory negligence, the court entered judgment for the defendants.

The court, in the case at bar, might very well have submitted a similar interrogatory to the jury, asking whether or not they believed plaintiff's failure to *observe and see* the hole in which he claimed he stepped, constituted contributory negligence.

In the Cooper case, the court said:

"It is to be noted that although the word 'observe' as used in the interrogatory could be given a meaning equivalent to 'make observation for,' the more usual understanding is to regard the words 'observe' and 'see' as synonymous. Under such meaning, in telling the jury that Mrs. Cooper failed to 'observe and see,' the court was only stating to them that uncontroverted fact, for Mrs. Cooper concedes that she did not see the obstruction. The court was aware that under the circumstances disclosed by the evidence, the conduct of Mrs. Cooper in failing to see the platform might, or might not, meet the standard of care required of her, and that the application of such standard is peculiarly within the province of the jury.

"Plaintiff is in error in her contention that the question of the existence of contributory negligence, under the situation which we here consider, is one of law. Contributory negligence would only be a question of law where the evidence showed, with such certainty that reasonable minds could not differ thereon, that the conduct in question either met or failed to meet the standard of due care. But where there is uncertainty as to whether such standard has been met so that reasonable minds could differ upon it, the question of whether such negligence exists is not a matter of law, but is one for the jury to determine."

Baker v. Decker, 212 P. 2d 679, Utah 1949, another

case cited in the plaintiff's brief, is, we submit, excellent authority to support defendants' contentions.

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